IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v

CASE NO. 78,526 CASE NO. 78,881

JOHNNY F. SMILEY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

John A. Weiss
Attorney Number 0185229
P. O. Box 1167
Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1167
(904) 681-9010
COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, JOHNNY F. SMILEY, the Appellant in these proceedings will be referred to as Respondent or as Mr. Smiley. Complainant/Appellee will be referred to as The Florida Bar or the Bar.

References to the transcript of the first day of final hearing on April 6, 1992 will be by the symbol TI followed by the appropriate page number. References to the transcript of the second day of final hearing on April 7, 1992 will be by the symbol TII. References to the exhibits will be by the symbol EX followed by the number in which it was received into evidence.

All references to the Report of Referee will be by the symbol RR followed by the relevant page number and, if appropriate, the paragraph.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a matter of original jurisdiction before the Supreme Court of Florida pursuant to Article V, Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

Upon motion for temporary suspension filed by The Florida Bar, Respondent was temporarily suspended from the practice of law by the Supreme Court of Florida effective May 23, 1991 in case number 77,731. Respondent subsequently asked the Supreme Court to lift the freeze order on sums received from his past practice of law. A hearing on that request was held before the referee on June 27, 1991 (EX 11). Respondent was denied relief.

Subsequently, The Florida Bar filed two formal complaints in the Supreme Court alleging Respondent was guilty of five counts of misconduct. The first complaint, case number 78,526, charged Respondent with misappropriating \$10,000.00 in trust funds from Fellowship Outreach Ministries, Inc. That organization was run by Bishop Calvin Kinsey. The second count of that complaint charged Respondent with failure to maintain proper trust account procedures.

The second complaint filed against Respondent, case number 78,881, basically charged Respondent with three counts of neglecting his clients' matters. Count I pertained to Mr. and Mrs. Earnest Clark; Count II to the estate of Charles Williams; and Count III to a foreclosure matter for Ms. Margie Webb.

In essence, Respondent admitted both counts of the first complaint and Count II of the second complaint. Counts I and III

of the second complaint were almost entirely admitted.

A. Fellowship Outreach Ministries

In January 1989, as found by the referee, Respondent represented the Greater Holy Temple of God in Christ Church, led by Bishop Calvin Kinsey, in its purchase of Fellowship Outreach Ministries, Inc. (Fellowship) from the First Coast Baptist Church. The sole asset of Fellowship was real estate in Jacksonville. Closing on the sale occurred on January 26, 1989 and on January 27, 1989 Respondent received \$10,000.00 in trust for the benefit of Bishop Kinsey and his organization. TR I, 62.

The \$10,000.00 entrusted to Respondent was to cover anticipated tax liabilities owed by First Coast that were incurred prior to the sale of Fellowship. Ultimately, it was determined that First Coast had over \$15,000 in tax liabilities assumed by Bishop Kinsey's organization. TR I, 112-113. If the \$10,000 was not entirely used for the payment of Fellowship's taxes, Respondent was to refund the difference to First Coast.

Respondent, a sole practitioner, was experiencing extreme financial difficulties in early 1989, due in part to his activities as president of the Perkins Bar Association and his representation of one of twenty-two co-defendants in federal criminal proceedings dubbed the Miami Boys case. That case resulted in a six-week criminal trial in spring 1989. As a result of Respondent's problems, he withdrew the money held in trust for Bishop Kinsey from his trust account over several months to cover rent and telephone bills.

In early December 1990, Bishop Kinsey received a tax notice dated December 3, 1990 for delinquencies owed by Fellowship for taxable year 1987 amounting to \$5,000.00 plus \$53.01 in penalties. Bishop Kinsey does not remember if he gave that notice to Respondent or to Ms. Huey, a CPA hired by Bishop Kinsey (at Respondent's recommendation) to handle the tax matters. EX 5, 16,17. Respondent testified that the December 3rd notice that he saw in late December 1990 was the first tax notice that he received regarding the Fellowship's tax liability. TII, 9,10. Everett Williams, the lawyer that replaced Respondent in the representation of Bishop Kinsey, testified that the first notice that he saw was a similar notice dated December 30, 1990. TI, 113.

Upon receipt of the \$5,053.01 tax delinquency notice, Respondent immediately borrowed funds from a fellow lawyer and on February 7, 1991 wrote out a check to the IRS in that amount for the benefit of Bishop Kinsey. TII, 8,10. That same day Everett Williams called and asked Respondent to keep the check until Mr. Williams determined if the funds were, in fact, owed. TI, 103,104; TII, 11. Subsequently, Mr. Williams and Respondent met and Respondent advised Mr. Williams of the purpose of the \$5,000.00. TI, 105; TII, 12-13.

After his meeting with Mr. Williams, Respondent disbursed the \$5,053.01 to the IRS. His check cleared on March 11, 1991. TII, 9.

Mr. Williams' inquiry on February 7, 1991 was the first time that Respondent had been contacted by that individual regarding

paying the \$5,000.00. TII, 11,12.

When Respondent was contacted by The Florida Bar regarding the \$10,000.00, he immediately went to Bishop Kinsey (who had not filed a grievance) and apprised him that all of the Fellowship's funds were not in trust. EX 5, 19. When Bishop Kinsey asked Respondent what he should say should he be contacted about the matter, Respondent told him to tell the truth. EX 5, 21,36,37.

Ultimately, the Fellowship paid an additional \$10,000.00 in taxes owed prior to Bishop Kinsey buying that entity. The 1987 taxes were not included in that figure. Had it not been for Respondent's payment of the \$5,053.01, \$15,000.00 would have been levied from Bishop Kinsey's accounts instead of \$10,000.00. TI, 112-113.

At the time of the \$10,000.00 levy, Respondent had approximately \$4,950.00 in trust funds that he was willing to disburse to Bishop Kinsey. However, the freeze order on his trust account prevented him from disbursing the funds. TII, 14.

B. Record Keeping Violations

Based primarily on Respondent's admissions, the referee found that Respondent's trust account record keeping procedures did not comply with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The referee found that Respondent did not maintain client ledger cards, monthly trust comparisons and case receipts and disbursement journals. Several of his bank statements were missing and his deposit slips did not fully identify the source of the funds received or the purpose for which they were deposited. Respondent also, on

occasion, disbursed money from trust against uncollected funds. In at least one instance, a \$5,000.00 deposit into his trust account bounced after he disbursed against those funds. EX 11 45.

The Florida Bar's auditor agreed on cross examination that Respondent's trust account records were in shambles. TI, 69,70.

The Bar's auditor also testified that Respondent was "cooperative", never barred access to records, allowed employees to openly discuss matters with him and that Respondent himself was accessible. TI, 74.

Records requested by The Florida Bar's auditors were, in some cases, not available because the storage company maintaining those records would not release them to Respondent because of past-due amounts owed. TII, 46.

Respondent testified that nobody ever taught him trust account procedures in either law school and after he became a sole practitioner upon admission to The Florida Bar. TII, 38.

C. The Clark Bankruptcy Proceedings

On or about December 1, 1989, Mrs. Clark retained Respondent to file bankruptcy proceedings on behalf of her and her husband. At that time she paid him \$300.00. The only asset the Clarks were seeking to protect was their house. TI, 53.

After retaining Respondent, but before he filed, a final judgment of foreclosure was entered against the Clarks in Circuit Court. When Ms. Clark received notice of the judgment and learned that a foreclosure sale was set for January 5, 1990, she called Respondent's office and spoke with his secretary, Charlotte. TI,

44,45. Unfortunately, Charlotte never told Respondent about the judgment of foreclosure and the impending sale. TI, 47; TII, 18. On January 5, 1990, Ms. Clark's house was sold at public sale. She advised Respondent of that development on January 8th and the next day, Respondent filed her bankruptcy proceedings. TII, 17,18; TI, 42.

Respondent testified that his filing of bankruptcy proceedings was within the ten day grace period afforded homeowners after public sale. After filing the bankruptcy, Respondent worked out an agreement with the lawyer representing the creditor to the effect that if Ms. Clark caught up on her arrearages within 30 days, her mortgage would be reinstated. Unfortunately, Ms. Clark was unable to satisfy the work-out agreement. TII, 18,19; TI, 50.

Respondent testified that even under bankruptcy proceedings, Ms. Clark's new mortgage payments would have been more than her old payments had been. The testimony was uncontroverted that Ms. Clark had been unable to make her past payments, let alone the new increased payments. TII, 20; TI, 55.

Ms. Clark was never actually evicted from her premises. She currently lives there as a tenant. TI, 52.

D. <u>Williams Estate</u>

Count II of the second complaint filed pertained to Respondent's being retained to probate the estate of Hugh James Williams by his son, Charles, in Duval County. On August 4, 1988, Respondent filed a petition for administration. After filing the oath of personal representative and designation of resident agent

on December 12, 1988, Respondent took no significant action on the estate resulting in it being dismissed on January 9, 1991.

Respondent testified that the only asset in the Williams estate was a Cadillac that Charles Williams wanted. Unfortunately, neither the son or the Williams family could maintain the car payments on the Cadillac, so it was repossessed. TII, 21. Subsequently, Respondent lost contact with his client.

E. Margie Webb

Count III of the second complaint charged Respondent with neglecting a foreclosure matter on behalf of Margie Webb.

On February 8, 1989, Ms. Webb retained Respondent to foreclose on a house on which she held a mortgage given by Clarence Mims. Ms. Webb ultimately paid Respondent \$1,162.50 towards fees and costs for the foreclosure. Of that sum, \$462.50 was received by Respondent to cover enumerated anticipated costs (\$67.50 filing fee, \$120.00 service of process, \$200.00 publication, \$75.00 injunctive fee). Those funds were delivered to Mr. Smiley under cover of letter dated March 21, 1989. TI, 21,22.

In June 1989, through Respondent's efforts, an agreement was reached between Mr. Mims and Ms. Webb wherein he would reinstate his mortgage by making payments of \$440.00 per month. After making an initial payment in the amount of either \$400.00 or \$440.00, Mr. Mims reneged on the deal. (The referee found that Respondent received \$440.00 from Mr. Mims and only forwarded \$400.00 of those funds to Ms. Webb. RR 6, par. 7.C. Respondent testified that he only received \$400.00 from Mr. Mims and that he forwarded that sum

to Ms. Webb. TII, 26,27. The referee included the \$40.00 in her recommendation that restitution be given to Ms. Webb).

On October 27, 1989, Respondent met with Ms. Webb to discuss the foreclosure. On that date she delivered to him an additional \$300.00 in fees and costs. Three days later, Respondent filed the foreclosure action. TI, 29-32. In the spring of 1991, foreclosure was completed and Ms. Webb received her certificate of title. TII, 31.

Respondent testified that one of the major problems with the Webb foreclosure was effecting service on the ten or eleven lienholders. Included amongst those lienholders was the Internal Revenue Service. Also, once Mr. Mims moved, Respondent had difficulty obtaining service on him. Ultimately, service was obtained by publication at an approximate cost of \$800.00. TI, 91-93; TII, 25,29.

There was no showing of any prejudice to Ms. Webb.

On page six of her report, in paragraph 7.E, the referee found during their October 27, 1989 meeting, Respondent assured Ms. Webb that he had filed the foreclosure action when, in fact, it was not filed until three days later. There is no evidence supporting that statement. Ms. Webb testified that

He told me he was going to file or had filed. I don't remember. But it supposedly had been filed before this. TI, 30.

Ms. Webb did not specifically remember whether Mr. Smiley stated that he had already filed the foreclosure action when they met on October 27, 1989. Unfortunately, Respondent was precluded

from cross-examining Ms. Webb on this point because she became ill during testimony and Respondent's counsel waived cross-examination.

Respondent was adamant in his testimony that he never told Ms. Webb that he filed her action before it was actually filed. TII, 28.

F. Post-Order Proceedings

By order of this Court dated April 23, 1991, Respondent was temporarily suspended from the practice of law effective May 23, 1991. The order required Respondent to deposit into a special trust account all sums that he received from the practice of law. Respondent asked for a modification of the order and it was assigned to a referee for hearing.

On June 27, 1991, a hearing was held on modification proceedings. During that hearing, Respondent testified that he had approximately \$14,800.00 in his regular trust account and his special trust account and that those funds were sufficient to cover Included in those funds were two fee all trust liabilities. EX 11, 20-22. payments amounting to \$5,300.00. Respondent improperly testified that all funds received from the practice of law since his order of suspension had been deposited into his special trust account. Ιn fact, Respondent had received approximately \$10,000.00 from the Federal Government as payment for past representation in a court-appointed matter. Those funds were deposited into a personal account set up by Respondent on May 6, 1991. TI, 95,96. Respondent candidly acknowledged the impropriety of his conduct before the referee. TII, 96.

Both before and after the \$10,000.00 deposit mentioned above, Respondent deposited all other receipts into the special trust account unless The Florida Bar waived that requirement. Included within the deposits were a \$46,000.00 check received in July, 1991 which was immediately deposited into his special trust account. Ultimately, the Bar approved Respondent disbursing \$23,000.00 of those funds to himself.

At final hearing, Respondent had approximately \$26,000.00 in his two trust accounts. TII, 47. In addition to the \$46,000.00 previously discussed, Respondent also deposited approximately \$5,000.00 in his special trust account in September 1991. TII, 49. The Bar has also authorized him to receive funds in the amount of approximately \$246.00 and \$375.00. TII, 50. There is no evidence that other than the \$10,000.00 check, Respondent has not properly complied with the Supreme Court's order of suspension.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In drafting her report, the referee in these proceedings drafted a report that was extremely one-sided. She either ignored or glossed over substantial mitigation and emphasized unduly the aggravating factors present.

In Point I of his argument, Respondent has pointed out numerous instances where the referee made findings, either pertaining to the specific allegations or as aggravation, that were clearly erroneous or were wholly unsupported by any evidence whatsoever. These findings give an erroneous impression of the extent of Respondent's misconduct and they should not be adopted by the Court.

In her recommendations as to whether Respondent should be found guilty or not, the referee found that Respondent charged an illegal or clearly excessive fee to the Clarks and that he engaged in criminal misconduct. Both recommendations should be rejected.

Respondent earned the \$590.00 paid to him by Mr. and Mrs. Clark despite the fact that they lost their home. In fact, some of those funds were filing fees that Respondent expended on their behalf. There was no testimony in the record that Respondent's fees were clearly excessive. In fact, the record is undisputed that Respondent did, in fact, file the Clarks' bankruptcy and that he succeeded in obtaining a redemption period during which they could have reinstituted their mortgage. Their financial inability to make up the arrearages on their mortgage resulted in their being foreclosed upon.

Respondent has never been convicted of criminal misconduct. In fact, he has never even been charged with such. Accordingly, the referee's recommendation that he be found guilty of engaging in a criminal act should not be accepted.

In Point III of his brief, Respondent objects to the referee recommending that Respondent pay restitution to the Clarks and to Ms. Webb. In fact, Respondent earned any fees that he gleaned from both cases. In Ms. Webb's case, Respondent expended over \$860.00 of the \$1,160.00 that he received on out-of-pocket costs. The remaining \$200.00 that he earned in obtaining her certificate of title for her should not be refunded.

The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar in effect at the time of final hearing did not give the referee authority to order restitution. Furthermore, there was no evidence before the referee that the fees received on the Clark and Webb matters were improper, let alone clearly excessive.

In Point IV, Respondent asks the Court to reject the referee's imposition of a lien against the proceeds in Respondent's trust accounts over and above that required to protect his clients' interests. Temporary and emergency suspension freeze orders should be limited exclusively to protecting clients' welfare. It should not be used to give The Florida Bar priority over Respondent's other creditors.

Finally, Respondent objects to the referee's recommendation that he be disbarred. A two year suspension, followed by three years probation is the appropriate discipline to be imposed when all mitigating factors are taken into consideration. Among those factors are Respondent's exemplary history of hard work and community involvement; the character testimony by his fellow practitioners, his past clients and his pastor; and the circumstances under which Respondent found himself at the time he took Bishop Kinsey's money.

In the spring of 1989, Respondent was a sole practitioner who had taken on more work and community activities than he could handle. His presidency of the Perkins Bar Association, his being co-counsel in a complicated federal criminal case, ultimately resulting in a six-week trial, and his taking on myriad clients

with little or no funds, resulted in his having virtually no funds to pay his rent, telephone bills and other expenses. Respondent had no recourse to lending institutions and was unable to borrow funds. While Respondent recognizes the propriety of discipline, his prior good works and his character are such that a long-term suspension rather than disbarment is the appropriate penalty to impose.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PORTIONS OF THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE WHOLLY WITHOUT EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT AND SHOULD BE DISREGARDED BY THIS COURT.

The Florida Bar is required to prove misconduct by clear and convincing evidence The Florida Bar v Rayman, 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970). Generally, The Florida Bar's burden in this case was made easy by Respondent's wholesale admissions to most of the allegations against him. In many instances, however, the referee made factual findings that had no support in the Bar's evidence or Respondent's admissions or testimony. Respondent submits that those findings of fact, challenged below, are wholly without support in the evidence and should be rejected. The Florida Bar v Wagner, 212 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1968).

A. THE REFEREE IMPROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT DELAYED REIMBURSEMENT OF BISHOP KINSEY'S FUNDS.

The referee improperly found the Respondent delayed reimbursement of Bishop Kinsey's funds.

On page two of her report at paragraph II.3.D the referee

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