FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT **23** 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case Nos. 78,526 and 78,881

vs.

JOHNNY F. SMILEY,

Respondent.

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

MIMI DAIGLE, Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 0782033

Table of Citations and Other Authorities	ii
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	2
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	3
ARGUMENT	

ISSUE I

THE	REFER	REE'S	5 FINDI	NGS	OF	FACT	ARE		5
SUPE	PORTEI) BY	COMPETI	ENT ,	, SI	JBSTA	NTIAL		
EVII	DENCE	AND	SHOULD	BE	UPH	HELD.			

ISSUE II

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Complainant, The Florida Bar, hereby adopts the reference symbols set forth in the Preliminary Statement of Respondent's Initial Brief. Additionally, references to Respondent's Responses to Complainant's Requests for Admissions will be designated Response, followed by the appropriate paragraph letter and Supreme Court case number. Finally, citations to Respondent's Initial Brief will be noted as RB-page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Subject to the elaborations contained in the body of this Answer Brief, The Florida Bar hereby adopts the Statement of the Case and of the Facts set forth in Respondent's Initial Brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Evidence presented at final hearing clearly and convincingly supports the following findings made by the Referee: Respondent delayed repayment of the \$10,000.00 he misappropriated from trust; Respondent's conduct caused the Clarks to lose their home; Respondent miscommunicated the status of the foreclosure to Ms. Webb; Respondent filed his bankruptcy in the Southern District of Florida to evade his creditors; Respondent permitted the Lucases' bankruptcy to be dismissed; Respondent failed to cooperate with The Florida Bar in producing his trust account records; and Respondent has shown an indifference to making restitution. The Referee's findings should therefore be sustained by this court, especially when they are viewed with the presumption of correctness generally accorded such findings.

Additionally, under well-established case law, it was within the authority of the Referee to recommend that Respondent be found guilty of engaging in criminal conduct, even absent a criminal conviction, and to recommend that Respondent be ordered to pay restitution for collecting an excessive fee. The Referee also properly recommended that a lien be imposed against Respondent's earned fees for costs incurred by The Florida Bar in bringing these proceedings.

-3-

Finally, the severity of Respondent's undisputed misconduct and the numerous aggravating factors in this case dictate that Respondent be disbarred from the practice of law in accordance with prior holdings of this court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE UPHELD.

When the referee's findings of fact in a disciplinary proceeding have been challenged, the Supreme Court of Florida has repeatedly stated that such findings are to be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. See The Florida Bar v. Lopez, 406 So.2d 1100, 1102 (Fla. 1981); The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 359 So.2d 856, 857 (Fla. 1978). While the "ultimate judgment remains with this court," the "initial fact-finding responsibility is imposed upon the referee. His findings of fact should be accorded substantial weight." The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770, 772 (Fla. 1968). Indeed, the referee's findings of fact in disciplinary proceedings are entitled to the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of a trier of fact in a civil proceeding. The Florida Bar v. Stillman, 401 So.2d 1306, 1307 (Fla. 1981). As the party challenging the Referee's findings, the burden here is on Respondent to demonstrate that they should be overturned. Rule 3-7.7(c)(5), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Respondent has failed to meet his burden of proof, and the Referee's findings of fact should be upheld.

-5-

A. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT DELAYED REPAYMENT OF THE \$10,000.00 HE HAD MISAPPROPRIATED FROM TRUST.

In January 1989, Respondent was given \$10,000.00 to hold in trust to pay an anticipated IRS assessment against Fellowship Outreach Ministries, Inc. Response D-78,526. Over the next six months, Respondent made several unauthorized withdrawals from the \$10,000.00 to pay his operating expenses. T I 62-63, 79-80. By September 1989, the \$10,000.00 was entirely depleted. т I 63. None of the misappropriated money was replaced until early 1991, almost two years after it was taken. Response F-78,526; T II 10. When partial replacement did occur in 1991, it was only after involvement by The Florida Bar and repeated inquiries by the seller's representative and by Respondent's own client. TFB Ex. 4-pp. 13-16, 18-20; TFB Ex. 5-pp. 19, 22. Upon receiving a notice of tax levy on Fellowship Outreach Ministries dated December 3, 1990, Respondent made payment to the IRS in February 1991 with the partially replaced money. T II 10-11; Respondent's Ex. 1.

In objecting to the Referee's finding that Respondent "delayed reimbursement of the \$10,000.00," Respondent's brief confuses Respondent's partial repayment of the \$10,000.00 into trust in early 1991 with his payment to the IRS. While the latter occurred within two months of the first IRS notice, the former did not occur until two years after the money was improperly withdrawn. In other words, the point is not that Respondent paid the money to the IRS when it became due; rather, the point is that

-6-

Respondent waited almost two years to repay any of the money he had misappropriated. Thus, the Referee was completely correct in finding that:

> Respondent delayed reimbursement of the \$10,000.00 after numerous requests by one of the sellers in the transaction but finally replaced \$5,053.01 of the \$10,000.00 by paying that amount to the IRS on February 7, 1991, after he received notice of the tax due from the seller and after inquiry was made by the seller's new attorney.

RR-2

It is clear that the Referee found that Respondent failed to replace the trust funds in a timely manner, a finding supported by overwhelming evidence, not that he failed to pay the IRS in a timely manner, as Respondent suggests the Referee's finding to be.

Respondent's Initial Brief raises the possibility that the Referee actually meant, in the above-quoted finding, that the <u>buyer's</u> new attorney made inquiry. RB-15. The Florida Bar would submit that such is indeed the case since no evidence regarding the <u>seller's</u> new attorney was introduced by either party at final hearing.

Finally, Respondent states that, "the unrebutted evidence is that Respondent did not comply with the seller's request for the return of the \$10,000.00 because Bishop Kinsey, quite properly so, refused to authorize the return." RB-14. This argument again confuses the issue. Had release of the monies either to the seller

-7-

or to the IRS been authorized prior to early 1991, the funds would not have been available from Respondent's trust account. T I 81-82; Response F-78,526. Thus, the issue is not, as Respondent attempts to make it out to be, whether Respondent delayed payment of any obligations covered by the \$10,000.00. The issue is that Respondent failed to replace the misappropriated money for a period of almost two years.

B. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT CAUSED THE CLARKS TO LOSE THEIR HOME.

At final hearing, Ms. Mable Clark testified that she and her husband hired Respondent for the sole purpose of filing bankruptcy in order to stay foreclosure proceedings on their home. T I 40, 45, 53. Ms. Clark also testified that her husband is a truck driver, but she is not employed due to heart trouble, diabetes, and high blood pressure. T I 38. Further, Ms. Clark stated that in 1989 she and her husband experienced financial difficulties because:

> We had bought a truck and had some trouble with it. It kept breaking down and it exhausted our finances trying to get the truck fixed, so we got a second mortgage note. So the gentleman that owns the house, I mean the gentleman we were paying the second mortgage to told me he was going to foreclose if I didn't catch up the payments, but I wasn't quiet [sic] two months behind then. By the time I got it together, I was -- by the time I went down to see the lawyer, because I was trying the [sic] get it refinanced by someone and they are the ones that suggested that I go down and get a lawyer to file bankruptcy and that would

> > -8-

allow me time to save up some money and catch up the mortgage payment.

т I 39

Clearly, the Clarks were relying on Respondent to take the steps necessary to protect their home. However, due to no fault of the Clarks, Respondent failed to file even a bare bankruptcy petition on their behalf until after their home was already sold. TFB Comp. Ex. 2; T II 17, 78-79. When the bankruptcy was finally filed, the bankruptcy court issued an automatic stay. TFB Comp. Ex. 2. However, the plaintiff in the foreclosure action subsequently filed a Motion for Relief from Automatic Stay in Bankruptcy. TFB Comp. Ex. 2. By order dated February 5, 1990, the bankruptcy judge granted the motion for relief and found that:

> the certificate of sale in the State Court foreclosure proceeding was issued on January 5, 1990, and that these proceedings were filed thereafter on January 9, 1990, during the redemption period permitted by state law and prior to issuance of certificate of title. Accordingly the Court finds that the debtors have no right to cure or reinstate movants mortgage. <u>Boromei v. Sun Bank</u>, 92 B.R. 516 (M.D. Fla. 1988); <u>In re: Pitts</u>, 97 B.R. 83 (M.D. Fla. 1989).

TFB Comp. Ex. 2

In the <u>Boromei</u> and <u>Pitts</u> cases, the courts held that a debtor does not have a right to reinstate a mortgage once the sale of the foreclosed property occurs. Accordingly, the Referee properly found that Respondent's conduct caused the Clarks to lose their home. While at the time of final hearing in this matter the Clarks were still in the house, they were renters not owners. T I 53.

C. THE REFEREE, CHARGED WITH RESOLVING CONFLICTS IN EVIDENCE, PROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT MISCOMMUNICATED THE STATUS OF THE FORECLOSURE TO MS. WEBB.

The Referee's findings of fact come to this court cloaked in a presumption of correctness and should be upheld absent a showing that the findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Colclough</u>, 561 So.2d 1147, 1150 (Fla. 1990). Further, the Referee, as the finder of fact, is in a unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses and, therefore, to resolve conflicts of evidence. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Hoffer</u>, 383 So.2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1980). In the instant matter, the Referee apparently chose not to give great weight to Respondent's testimony concerning his conversations with Margie Webb and properly found, based on the totality of the evidence, that Respondent misled Ms. Webb about the status of her foreclosure.

Additionally, Respondent was not charged in the Webb case with a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation) of the Rules of Professional Conduct of The Florida Bar. The Bar's Complaint cited only Rules 4-1.3 (a lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client) and

-10-

4-1.4(a) (a lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information) on the Webb count, and the Referee recommended findings of guilt on those rules alone. Thus, the Referee's finding that Respondent gave false assurances to his client has no bearing on Respondent's guilt as to the cited rules. The great weight of the evidence, even apart from the challenged factual finding, supports the Referee's recommendations of guilt in the Webb case. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Hayden</u>, 583 So.2d 1016, 1017 n.5 (Fla. 1991).

> D. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND AS AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR THAT RESPONDENT FILED HIS BANKRUPTCY IN THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TO EVADE HIS CREDITORS.

After his temporary suspension from the practice of law, Respondent and his wife filed personal bankruptcy in the Southern District of Florida. T I 88; T II 61. In response to the filing, Respondent's former law partner, a potential creditor in the proceeding, filed a motion to dismiss the bankruptcy for lack of jurisdiction. TFB Ex. 8; T I 88-89. The motion asserted that the debtors had not met the residency requirement for filing in the Southern District in that:

> the Southern District address given by Respondent was actually a residence owned by Respondent's employer where Respondent had

> > -11-

resided on weekdays for less than a ninetyday period;

- Respondent commuted to his home in Duval County on the weekends to be with his wife and children;
- the children were enrolled in Duval County schools; and
- 4) Respondent maintained office space in Duval County.

As a result of the motion, Respondent's original bankruptcy was dismissed. T I 89; T II 62-63.

Respondent testified that bankruptcy cases comprised a large part of his practice. T I 88. Thus, Respondent knew or should have known the residency requirements for filing bankruptcy, as well as the effect of not filing in the district where creditors would be located. Accordingly, the Referee correctly found as an aggravating factor that Respondent filed his bankruptcy in the Southern District in an attempt to evade his creditors in the Middle District, where his residence and practice were located prior to his suspension from the practice of law.

> E. THE REFEREE PROPERLY CONSIDERED AND FOUND IN AGGRAVATION THAT RESPONDENT PERMITTED THE LUCASES' BANKRUPTCY TO BE DISMISSED.

This court has repeatedly held that the strict rules of evidence do not apply in Bar disciplinary proceedings and that

-12-

hearsay is admissible. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Dawson</u>, 111 So.2d 427, 431 (Fla. 1959); <u>The Florida Bar v. Vannier</u>, 498 So.2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). It is also well-established that there is no right to confront witnesses face to face. <u>Vannier</u> at 898. Additionally, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Stillman</u>, supra p.5, this court found that a referee could properly consider evidence of attorney misconduct not charged in the Bar's Complaint.

In <u>Stillman</u>, the accused attorney argued on appeal that the referee, inter alia, improperly took into account an act of forgery by the respondent that was not alleged in the Bar's complaint. In finding that it was proper for the referee to consider such evidence, this court reasoned:

> evidence of unethical conduct not squarely within the scope of the Bar's accusations is admissible, and such unethical conduct, if established by clear and convincing evidence, should be reported because it is relevant to the question of the respondent's fitness to practice law and thus relevant to the discipline to be imposed.

Id.

In accordance with the foregoing, The Florida Bar introduced at final hearing a sworn affidavit by Kathy Lucas, one of Respondent's former clients, for the referee's consideration in determining the appropriate discipline. The same affidavit had previously been attached as an exhibit to The Florida Bar's Response to Respondent's Motion for Expedited Appointment of Referee in his temporary suspension case. In the affidavit, Ms. Lucas states that Respondent, pursuant to Ms. Lucas' and her husband's request, filed a joint petition for bankruptcy on their behalf. TFB Ex. 6. Subsequently, according to the affidavit, Ms. Lucas' husband was deployed to the Persian Gulf and was therefore unable to appear at the Meeting of Creditors in their bankruptcy case. Ms. Lucas states: "Though aware of my husband's inability to attend the meeting of creditors, Mr. Smiley failed to take timely action to have my husband excused from the meeting or dismissed from the bankruptcy." TFB Ex. 6. Respondent himself admitted as much at final hearing:

> But in Ms. Lucas' case, her husband -- after the filing, her husband was sent to the Persian Gulf and he couldn't attend. We had to file a motion to excuse him. In the meantime, we assume this is what happened, that since he didn't appear, couldn't appear because he was in the Persian Gulf, the case was dismissed. (emphasis added)

T II-91

Based on Ms. Lucas' affidavit, Respondent's own testimony, and the absence of any evidence regarding efforts by Respondent to prevent the dismissal, it is clear the Referee properly found that the Lucas bankruptcy was dismissed as a result of Respondent's lack of diligence.

Perhaps more importantly, Respondent, by his own admission, refiled the Lucas' bankruptcy without his clients' knowledge or consent by forging, or acquiescing in the forging of, their signatures on the petition. TFB Ex. 6; T I 85-86. Pursuant to the

-14-

court's reasoning in <u>Stillman</u>, the Referee had a duty to take these aggravating factors into account in determining the discipline to be imposed and Respondent's fitness to practice law.

F. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO COOPERATE WITH THE FLORIDA BAR IN PRODUCING HIS TRUST ACCOUNT RECORDS.

It is undisputed that Respondent's trust account records were in "shambles." T I 69-70. There is dispute, however, over whether Respondent cooperated with the Bar in its efforts to audit the trust account. The Referee properly found that he did not.

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